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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
The Trustees (who are also Directors of the charity for the purposes of the Companies Act) present their annual 
report, the consolidated financial statements and the independent auditors’ report of Excellence in Education Trust 
for the year ended 31 August 2020. The annual report serves the purposes of both a Trustees' report under the 
charities SORP, and a Directors' report under company law. 
 
The Trustees confirm that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set 
out in the notes to the financial statements and comply with the requirements of the Trust’s governing document, 
applicable law and the provisions of the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (SORP 2019). 
 
The Trust operates two primary academies in London Borough of Brent. They have a combined pupil capacity of 
1,205 and had a roll of 1,091 in the school census in spring 2020. 
 
Structure, Governance and Management 
 
Constitution  
The Academy Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The charitable company’s 
Memorandum and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents of the Academy Trust.  
 
The Trustees act as the Directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law, as well as fulfilling 
their obligations as Trustees for the charitable activities of Excellence in Education Trust. The Academy Trust has 
entered into a funding agreement with the Department for Education, which provides the framework within which 
the Academy must operate. 
 
Details of the Trustees who served throughout the year are included in the Reference and Administrative Details on 
page 2 of the financial statements. 
 
Members’ Liability  
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the event 
of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such amount as 
may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be a member. 
 
Trustees’ indemnity 
Directors’ benefit from indemnity insurance purchased at the Trust’s expense to cover liability of Directors by virtue 
of any rule of law that would otherwise attach to them in respect of any negligence, default or breach of trust or 
breach of duty of which they may be guilty in relation to the Trust. 
 
Any such insurance shall not extend to any claim arising from any act or omission which the Directors knew to be a 
breach of duty or which was committed by the Directors in reckless disregard to whether it was a breach of trust or 
duty or not. Any such insurance shall not extend to the costs of any unsuccessful defence to a criminal prosecution 
brought against the Directors of the Trust. 
 
Appointments of Members and Trustees 
The initial Members of the Trust shall be the subscribers to the Memorandum of Association. The Secretary of State 
may decide to appoint one of the members of the Board if the Secretary of State chooses to appoint a person for this 
purpose. 
 
When necessary, the Board recruit Trustees through the process of, 

a) identifying the skill set required 
b) approaching the three organisations listed below 
c) studying the information submitted by the potential trustees 
d) interviewing prospective candidates, by the Executive Head, Chair of Trustees and an existing Trustee. 
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 

Appointments of Members and Trustees (continued) 
 
The Members may also appoint individual Trustees, in accordance with the Articles if Association, who bring skill, 
knowledge and experience to the Board. For elected Trustees, namely Parent Trustees, the Board initiate the election 
process by notifying all parents of the vacancy, asking for nominations. If more than one nominee parent, elections 
are held. Prior to election, the Board will interview the nominees to establish relevant skills, expertise and 
experience.  
 
When required, the Board will recruit new Trustees through, 

 Academy Ambassadors 
 Inspiring Governors 
 School Governors One Stop Shop 

 
The Secretary of State for Education may appoint Trustees in certain circumstances; no such appointments were 
made in the year under review. 
 
The term of office for any Trustee shall be four years. This time limit shall not apply to any post which is held ex 
officio. Subject to remaining eligible to be a particular type of trustee, the Board may be re-appoint or re-elect any 
Trustee. 
 
A Trustee shall cease to hold office if he resigns his office by notice to the Academy (but only if at least five 
Trustees will remain in office when the notice of resignation is to take effect). 
 
A Trustee shall cease to hold office if he is removed by the person or persons who appointed him. The Article does 
not apply in respect of a Parent Trustee. 
 
Policies and Procedures Adopted for the Induction and Training of Trustees  
The clerk to the Board provides new Trustees with copies of all essential documentation needed to undertake their 
role, including copies of relevant policies, procedures, minutes, accounts, budgets, strategic plans, the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association, Academies Financial Handbook and Academy Trust’s Funding Agreement. Existing 
Trustees induct new Trustees.  
 
The Board of Trustees subscribes to Brent School Partnership, Brent Education Services and in-house training is 
organised as and when required. The Chair together with the clerk to the Governors continues to provide information 
on external training opportunities to the Trustees too. 
 
Organisational Structure  
The Board of Trustees of Excellence in Education Trust is constituted under the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association. The Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring high standards of corporate governance within the 
Trust. 
 
The Trustees establish the overall framework for the governance of the Trust. The Trustees approve membership, 
terms of reference and procedures of committees and approve all Trust policies. The Trustees are responsible for the 
strategic direction of the Academy Trust, for monitoring the work of the Academies and ensuring the academies 
achieve their objectives. 
 
In addition to the full Board of Trustees meetings, Excellence in Education Trust has a committee structure: the main 
committees are the Finance and Premises Committee, Curriculum & Staffing Committee and the Payroll Committee.
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Organisational Structure (continued) 
 
The delegation of responsibility and authority is set out within the comprehensive Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) 
Scheme of Delegation. 
 
The Chair of the Board meets regularly with the Executive Headteacher and the Trustees visit both schools within 
the Trust to make first hand observations of the work of the schools. The Trustees’ analyse and discuss the report 
from each such visit with a view of maintaining and enhancing the high standards of outcomes within the schools. 
 
The Executive Headteachers are required to provide strategic leadership and management of the MAT. The 
Leadership Teams and the Business Managers at each school ably assist the Executive Headteacher in achieving the 
Trust’s strategic aims. 
 
The Executive Head is the ‘Accounting Officer’ of Excellence in Education Trust. 
 
Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel 
Payroll committee of the Trust meets in July each year to discuss and approve remuneration of all employees of the 
Trust. The committee takes account of performance, market trends, DfE guidance on remuneration and peer group 
comparisons while determining the level of compensation. The committee will analyse proposals made by the 
Executive Headteacher before making an informed decision. DfE matrix and performance assessment by external 
consultants is the basis of compensation for the Executive Headteacher. 
 
Connected Organisations, including Related Party Relationships 
Each school has a Parent Staff Association that is a registered charity. Oakington Manor Primary School also 
operates Acorn Manor Limited. Note 29 of the accounts give further details on these connected organisations.  
 
Excellence in Education Trust works in partnership with Place2Be that supports children and their families in need 
of emotional and behavioural support.  
 
Oakington Manor Primary School is a strategic partner of the Woodfield Teaching School Alliance. WTS organises 
training for prospective teachers under the Schools Direct programme that provides candidates a salaried route to 
obtain qualified teacher status. 
 
A related party relationship exists between one of the Trustees, and a counter party to Acorn Manor Limited lettings 
operations. The Trustee has disclosed this relationship as a pecuniary interest to the Board of Trustees. 
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 

Trade Union Facility Time 
The Trust employed more than 49 full time employees during the financial year and therefore it must disclose trade 
union facility time in accordance with the requirements of the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication 
Requirements) Regulations 2017. The required information is set out in the tables below:  
 

Relevant Union Officials 

Number of employees who were relevant union officials 
during the year 

Full time equivalent employees 

2 2    

Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% - 

1%-50% 2 

51%-99% - 

100% - 

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

Total cost of facility time £3,850 

Total pay bill  £5,587,000 

% of the total pay bill spent on facility time  0.06% 

Paid trade union activities 

Total spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility hours 

0.07% 

Fund Raising Practices 
The Trust carried out fund raising practices complying with the Charities (Protection and Social Investment) Act 
2016 as detailed below: 

 The Trust carries out all fund raising activities within the constraints of the applicable law. The Trustees use 
all surplus funds generated from such activities in their entirety, for the advancement of education of the 
pupils of the schools, by providing and assisting in the provision of facilities that are not normally funded 
by the DfE.  

 The Trust formulates and carries out all of its fund raising activities. The Trust does not employ or 
collaborate with any third party fundraisers or commercial organisations to help with its fund raising 
activities.  

 The Trustees confirm that its fund raising activities conform to all recognised standards.  
 The Executive Headteacher and the Headteachers, on behalf of the Trustees, monitor and control all fund 

raising activities carried out on behalf of the Trust.  
 The Trustees confirm that there have been no complaints against either of the schools with regards to their 

fund raising activities for year ended 31 August 2020. 
 The Trustees hereby confirm that utmost care is taken during its fund raising activities for the protection of 

the public, including vulnerable people, from unreasonably intrusive or persistent fundraising approaches, 
and undue pressure to donate. 
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Principal Objectives, Activities and Strategies 
 
Objects and Aims 
The main objectives of Excellence in Education Trust are:  
 

a) Empower and enable every student to fulfil their potential and focus on raising standards and progression of 
all students 
 
we will achieve this by: 

a. Improving the quality of Teaching and Learning through continuous professional development of 
staff, coaching and peer group cooperation 

b. Track progress of all pupils and hold staff accountable through regular pupil progress meetings and 
performance development 
 

b) Sanction all Curriculum and Subject Leaders to focus and effectively target weaker areas and use necessary 
resources and expertise to raise standards and improve outcomes for all children.  
 
we will achieve this by: 

a. All curriculum and subject leaders to have a clear programme of action focused on good and 
sustained progress academically as well as experiencing a wide range of opportunities and 
experiences to aid them in their next school and beyond 

b. Peer group and cross Academy analysis to evidence of improving provision 
c. Identifying areas in need of improvement and provide necessary resources to staff and target fund 

to improve outcomes 
 

c) Promote openness, strong accountability and clear, effective leadership within the Trust.  
 
we will achieve this by: 

a. Ensuring cross party working relationship between trustees, staff and stakeholders both internal and 
external to the Trust 

b. Providing evidence of the application of good value for money principles in the use of delegated 
fund 

c. Conducting all business of the Academy Trust in accordance with the highest standards of integrity, 
probity and openness 

 
The Trust also seeks to transform learning through partnership programmes with onshore and offshore peer groups, 
foster academic excellence and support the regeneration of the local communities through provision of training and 
employment opportunities. By empowering stakeholders through its active participation in all aspects of leadership 
and peer group activities and programmes, the Trust is seeking to support the national school improvement agenda 
by developing and sharing best practice. 
 
Activities  
The main priorities of the MAT are to ensure high standards of teaching and learning, to recruit and retain high 
quality teaching and support staff and to establish an excellent pastoral and student support team so that all 
students will be encouraged to achieve their full potential. 
 
Activities provided include:  

 opportunities for all students to gain appropriate academic qualifications through consistently good 
teaching and on-going support;  

 training and development opportunities for all staff;  
 teaching staff professional development initiatives to improve teaching & learning;  
 a programme of enrichment activities for all students. 
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Public Benefit  

The principal activity of the Charitable Company is to advance for the public benefit education in the United 
Kingdom, in particular but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing by establishing, maintaining, carrying 
on, managing and developing the academies within the Trust by offering a broad and balanced curriculum. 

The activities undertaken to further the Academy Trust’s purposes for the public benefit are: 

 Excellence in Education Trust has provided education to local pupils between the ages of 3 and 11. 
 Partnerships with local Primary schools have been established and maintained. Pupils from local 

schools have attended educational activities at the Academies; including school holiday activities, 
varied sporting activities hosted by the Academy, and training and mentoring of prospective 
teachers enrolled into teacher training programmes. 

 The Trust continues to provide leisure and sports facilities to the community through our continued 
partnership with local schools, local council and other community-based organisations.  

 The Trust provides facilities for the community at large in the interest of social welfare and with the 
interest of improving the life of the community of Brent. 

 
The Trustees confirm that they have complied with the duty in Section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 to have due 
regard to the Charity Commissioner's general guidance on public benefit in exercising their powers or duties. They 
have referred to this guidance when reviewing the Academy Trust's aims and objectives and in planning its future 
activities.
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 

 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT 
 
Excellence in Education Trust (EiET) consists of two schools - Oakington Manor, in Wembley, and Furness Primary 
in Harlesden. EiET has high expectations of all stakeholders- pupils, staff, parents and governors. Our motto of 
‘Inspiring Children, Impacting the Future’ encapsulates our expectations for the behaviour, progress and attainment 
of all pupils and for the conduct and professionalism demanded of all stakeholders. 
 
The Trust makes every effort to promote the fundamental British values, which are reflected in the harmonious 
relationships in the schools and extremely low levels of disruptions and exclusions. The advocacy of self-discipline 
instilled in our children results in exemplary conduct and pupils making very good progress in spite of low starting 
points. 
 
EiET aspires for each child to fulfil its potential. The school priorities identified for 2020-21 include: 

 To continue to improve on sustainable levels of attainment and achievement in the academies  
 To promote and celebrate pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development and their physical 

well-being 
 To ensure utmost focus on the safety and wellbeing of all the children at all times 
 To ensure that the trust is regarded as an effective sponsor by the existing academies, schools 

considering conversion and by the regulators and policy makers 
 To improve leadership and management of the trust so that it becomes an employer of choice, staff are 

fulfilled in their roles and have opportunities to develop 
 To ensure the financial structures and processes are vigorous and meet the highest standards 
 To improve infrastructure (including capital build, information technology and facilities management) 

that is timely, effective and offers good value for money. 

Achievement and performance 

 

Oakington Manor Primary School 2018-19 
 
EARLY YEARS FOUNDATION STAGE 

 
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 Brent-2019 National-2019 

GLD 63 64 67.7 67 71.8 71.5 
APS 32.5 32 31.8 31.3 33.6 34.5 
 
Phonics Screening  

2015-16 2016-17 
 
2017-18 

 
2018-19 

GD 
(marks 
over 35) 

Brent-2019 National-2019 

90 83.3 87.8 80.6 71% 82.9 82 
 

(2 children – wards of Court so did not attend school. 96 ch= 82%; GD- 73%) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

11 
 

EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Oakington Manor Primary School (continued) 
 
Key Stage 1- Attaining Expected and better (%)  

  2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 
Greater depth 
(Brent/national) 

Brent / National 
2019 

Reading 75.8 81.3 80.2 76.5  
14.5  
(23.2 / 25.1) 

 73.6 / 75.1 

Writing 77.8 79.2 77.1 72.4  
11.2 
(14.1 / 14.8) 

 68 / 69.3 

Mathematics  72.7 81.3 76 78.6  
25.5 
(22.4 / 21.8) 

 76 / 75.4 

Science  90.9 91.7 88.5 
 
79.6 
 

 
X  78.6 / 82.4 

Combined RWM 72.7 74 76 72.4  
11.2 
(10.9 / 11.2) 

 65.1 / 65 

Combined RWMS  72.7 74 76 
 
72.4  
 

 
X  64.5 / 64.7 

 
Key Stage 2 Achieved Standard (%) 

  2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 
2018-19 
(trend) 

Greater depth 
(Brent/national) 

Brent / National 
2019 

Reading 84.2 87 87 75.8  
18.7 
(26.6 / 26.9) 

71.5 / 73.1 

Writing 70.5 79.3 82 84.6  
11 
(17.3 / 20.1) 

76.4 / 78.4 

Mathematics  88.3 91.3 90 87.9  
33 
(32.4 / 26.6) 

81.2 / 78.6 

GPS 85.3 89.1 92 87.9  
54 
(43 / 35.6) 

80.7 / 78 

Combined RWM  69.1 77.2 81 70.3  
5.5 
(10.2 / 10.5) 

65.1 / 64.7 

 
Average Scaled Score *(no writing score as results based on teacher assessment) 

  
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

2018-19 
(trend) 

Brent / National 2019 

Reading 105.6 107.8 107 103.2  104.4/104.4 
Mathematics  107.6 109.4 109 106.9  106.3 / 105 
GPS X 109.6 113 109.1  108.1 / 106.3 
 
Progress Measure  KS1 to KS2 

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 

Reading 
4.22 
Well above average 

0.9 
Average 

-1.0 
Average 

Writing  
0.01 
Average 

-0.1 
Average 

0.1 
Average  

Mathematics  
6.11 
Well above average 

4.0 
Well above average 

2.3 
Above average 
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Oakington Manor Primary School (continued) 
 
Abbreviation key: 

GLD- Good level of development (the child is secure in literacy, numeracy, communication and language, personal,  
social and emotional development (PSED) and Physical development (PD) at the end of Reception aged 5 
Phonic screening- assessment undertaken in Y1 (age 6) 
RWM- child at age appropriate in reading, writing and maths combined 
RWMS-child at age appropriate in reading, writing, maths and science combined 
GPS- grammar, punctuation and Spelling 
Average Scaled Score- A pupil’s/schools scaled score is based on the raw score of how many questions were answered correctly in the 
test. A scaled score of 100 will always represent the expected standard on the test being met 
Average Points Score- The Key Stage 2 average point score per pupil performance measure shows the total number of points achieved 
in each subject by all eligible pupils, divided by the number of eligible pupils. 
 
Furness Primary School 2018-19 
 

 EARLY YEARS FOUNDATION STAGE (%) 

 
2017 2018 2019 Brent-2019 National-2019 

GLD 73.3 69 70.9 71.8 71.5 

APS 41.4 37.1 34.6 33.6 34.5 

 
 PHONICS SCREENING (%) 

2017 2018 2019 
GD 

(marks over 35) 
Brent-2019 National-2019 

76.7 85 77.2 58 82.9 82 
 
 Key Stage 1- Attaining Expected and better (%) 
  2017 2018 2019 Brent -2019 National -2019 
Reading 65.8 78 69.8 73.6 74.9 
Writing 64.5 72 41.5 68 69.2 
Mathematics  71.1 70 84.9 76 75.6 
Science  90.8 78 77.4 78.6 82.3 
Combined RWM 63.2 52 39.6 65.1 64.9 
Combined RWMS  63.2 52 39.6 64.5 64.6 
 
 Key Stage 1- Attaining Greater Depth (%) 
  2017 2018 2019 Brent- 2019 National -2019 
Reading 21.1 14 20.8 23 25 
Writing 9.2 2 3.8 14.1 14.8 
Mathematics  18.4 4 28.3 22.3 21.7 
Combined RWM 6.6 0 1.9 10.9 11.2 
 

 
 

 

 Key Stage 2 Achieved Standard (%) 

  2017 2018 2019 
Brent -
2020 

National 
2020 

Attaining Greater Depth 
(%) 

Brent National 

      2017 2018 2019 2019 2019 
Reading 70.4 63.9 71.7 74.3 73.1 18.5 8.4 30.2 27.8 26.9 
Writing 77.8 78.3 69.8 79.5 78.4 14.8 4.8 0 18 20.2 
Mathematics  66.7 74.7 86.8 83.9 78.6 21 19.3 37.7 33.7 26.6 
GPS 76.5 75.9 73.6 83.7 78 35.8 34.9 35.8 44.8 35.7 
Combined RWM 55.6 56.6 62.3 67.8 64.8 7.4 1.2 0 10.7 10.5 
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Furness Primary School (continued) 
 

Average Scaled Score *(no writing score as results based on teacher assessment) 
  2017 2018 2019 Brent 2019 National 2019 
Reading 103.5 100.9 103.5 104.6 104.4 
Mathematics  103.2 102.8 106.4 106.5 105 
GPS 107.4 104.9 106 108.2 106.3 

 
Progress measure – KS1 TO KS2 

  2017 2018 2019 
Reading -0.8 -2.0 1 
Writing  -0.2 -0.2 -2.2 
Mathematics  -0.9 -0.2 2.4 

 
 

Abbreviation key: 
GLD- Good level of development (the child is secure in literacy, numeracy, communication and language, personal,  
social and emotional development (PSED) and Physical development (PD) at the end of Reception aged 5 
Phonic screening- assessment undertaken in Y1 (age 6) 
RWM- child at age appropriate in reading, writing and maths combined 
RWMS-child at age appropriate in reading, writing, maths and science combined 
GPS- grammar, punctuation and Spelling 
Average Scaled Score- A pupil’s/schools scaled score is based on the raw score of how many questions were answered 
correctly in the test. A scaled score of 100 will always represent the expected standard on the test being met 
Average Points Score- The Key Stage 2 average point score per pupil performance measure shows the total number of 
points achieved in each subject by all eligible pupils, divided by the number of eligible pupils. 
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Key Performance Indicators  
The Trustees use certain high-level key performance indicators to monitor the overall financial position of the Trust. 
 
Financial KPIs for year ended August 2020 are as follows:  
 

a) Unrestricted income (excludes income from grants & delegated funding) as a percentage of total income: 
6.8% (17.5% in 2018-19)  

b) Staff costs as a percentage of total costs: 74.2% (73.2% in 2019) 
 
Investing in quality staff has been fundamental in recruiting and retaining the right staff to raise pupil performance 
and improve teaching & learning standards. Due to financial pressures on standard of living in London, it has 
become increasingly difficult to recruit and retain quality staff to support and improve pupil outcomes.  
 

c) Salary Expenditure: £6,416K (2019: £6,477K) 
d) Total Income Grants: £7,185K (2019: £7,055K) 
e) Staff costs as a percentage of grant income: 79.9% (2019: 80.9%) 
f) Net outgoing resources (before transfers and pension adjustments): £439K (2019: £165K) 
g) Current Ratio (current assets/current liabilities) : 7.0 (2019: 12.7) 
h) Liquidity: £3,351K (2019: £5,455K) 

 
Although staff costs remain within the target range, cost-pressures from salary increases and higher employer’s 
pension and national insurance contributions continue to have a big impact on direct cost.  
 
Going Concern  
In common with many schools nationally, the Academy Trust continue to face flat lining GAG income that has not 
kept in line with cost pressures. This funding gap continues to erode the capacity of the Trust to build sufficient 
reserves from its fund raising activities to meet its strategic objectives. Nevertheless, the Board of Trustees is 
confident that the Academy Trust has more than adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to operate on a going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements. Statement of Accounting Policies provides further details regarding the adoption of the going concern 
basis.  
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 

Financial Review 

The principal source of income for the Academies is the General Annual Grant (GAG) from the DfE, the use of 
which is restricted to specific purposes. On average, 80% of the GAG goes towards meeting the staff costs and the 
balance is absorbed into Educational, Occupational and Administrative costs.  
 
The Academies also receive targeted funding in the form of Pupil Premium. This important source of funding 
enables the Academies to develop strategies that contribute to on-going improvement in achievement of pupil in 
educational outcomes, language and communication, confidence and attendance and punctuality.  
 
The grants received from the DfE during the period ended 31 August 2020 and the associated expenditure are shown 
as restricted funds in the Statement of Financial Activities.  
 
The Academy Trust is also committed to bidding for any available funding that will enable improvement in 
educational environment and contribute to higher educational outcomes. The Trust continues to develop 
collaborative strategies internally as well as in the market place to maximise value for money outcomes, share 
intellectual capacity and benefit from economies of scale.  
 
Reserves Policy  
The Trustees review the reserve levels of the Academies periodically. The Board of Trustees feel it is important that 
funding received during a financial year is spent for the benefit of the pupils on roll at that time. While reviewing the 
Reserve Policy, the Trustees take into consideration the strategic plans of the Academy Trust, the uncertainty over 
future income streams and other key risks identified during the risk review. The Trustees have determined that the 
appropriate level of free reserves should be equivalent to four weeks expenditure, which is approximately £600,000. 
These reserves will act as a cushion in the event of a time lag between expenditure and receipt of grant income from 
DfE and it will be a provision for unexpected contingencies.  
 
Investment Policy  
The Trustees have approved for surplus funds to be held in term/treasury deposits. For selection, assets will only be 
considered with banking institutions that have a minimum credit rating of A- as assessed by Fitch or Standard & 
Poor’s or rated A3 on Moody. Investments for a fixed term should not normally exceed one year in order to provide 
flexibility for the following year’s plans, unless a clear rationale is provided for exceeding one year to the benefit of 
the Trust. 
 
Financial and Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring an effective risk management system and maintains a 
comprehensive scheme of internal controls. They promote the achievement of internal policies, aims and objectives 
whilst safeguarding public funds, non-grant incomes and assets for which the Board is responsible. The Finance 
Committee guides the Board of Trustees in the risk management process. The Senior Leadership Team and the 
Business Managers of the Academies play an important role by providing information and advice towards the risk 
identification and mitigation strategies. 
 
The Risk Register identifies the types of risk the Academy Trust might encounter and rates the risks in terms of 
likelihood and impact. During the risk review, the Trustees will highlight the most significant risks, initiate and 
implement appropriate risk mitigation strategies and allocate sufficient resources for such strategies. 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties  
Most of the Academy Trust’s funding is from the DfE, therefore, the Trustees consider this element of funding to be 
reasonably secure. The most significant risks relating to this income are changing government policy on school 
funding, the effect of increasing contribution rates for stakeholder pensions and the effect of changing pupil 
numbers. Additionally, changes in economic and social structures in the locality have a direct impact on the non-
grant income generated by the academies. The Trustees have laid out their strategies for dealing with these risks.  
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EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
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The Trust monitors risk on a likelihood and impact basis. As such, the key risks facing the Trust are detailed below: 

 
Pupil numbers 
Expansion of some of the local schools, government policy together with demographic trends and movements, have 
a direct impact on pupil numbers. The academies ensure they exceed performance targets and offer wide-ranging 
supplements to the educational provision to become the first choice of schools for the local population.  
 
Reserve balances 
The Trust's exposure to financial risks associated with reserve balances is minimal since the financial instruments 
that it deals with are largely bank balances, cash and treasury deposits covered by the financial compensation 
scheme.  
 
Other risks 
The Academy Trust’s risk register also consider the operational and reputational risks involved in the running of the 
school, the nursery and other trading operations. The Trustees identify that the likely occurrence of these risks is low 
but also accept that the impact if they were to occur is potentially high. Therefore, the trustees, through the senior 
leadership teams, seek professional advice whenever necessary to mitigate these risks. 
 
Credit Risk 
This is mainly in the private nursery with limited trade and other debtors. Risk is minimised by constant monitoring 
of late payments and immediate remedial action to ensure receipt of fees as per contractual agreement. The Nursery 
also holds a month’s fee as deposit against any non-compliance of contract. 
 
Cash flow and liquidity 
Since the formation of the Academy Trust, the GAG funding has flat lined.  This is mainly outside the control of the 
Trustees but the Trustees ensure that both academies carry a healthy reserve to counter any adverse impact caused by 
funding gaps or changes in the conditions of the market of non-grant income generation.     
 
Equal Opportunities and Disabled persons policies (Equalities Policy)  
Excellence in Education has a wide and diverse population of both students and staff and this very diversity is one of 
our greatest strengths. In order to consolidate and build upon this diversity, it is essential that equality of opportunity 
and the absence of unfair discrimination be at the core of all the Trust’s activities. 
 
The Trust will not unfairly discriminate in the recruitment or general treatment of staff or students on the basis of 
race, colour, ethnicity, ethnic origin, national origin, gender, marital status, disability, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation, age or any other factor.  
 
Excellence in Education believes that the overall ethos of its schools, through the hidden and overt curriculum, plays 
an important role in developing children and staff awareness of equal opportunity issues. We believe that through 
lifelong learning we develop our and our children’s’ personal and cultural identity and celebrate diversity. We aim to 
ensure that children develop respect for themselves and others in order that they will become fully active and 
thoughtful participants in society. We aim to ensure the highest quality of education and opportunity for all.   
 
Employee Information Policy 
EiET has two Staff Trustees on its Board. This ensures that: 
 

 employee’s views are taken into account on decisions affecting their interests; and 
 there is a common awareness on the part of all employees of all factors that affect the Academy Trust’s 

performance. 
 
EiET also undertakes discussions with employees and their unions when making decisions that affect employee 
interests. This ensures that the Trust considers employees’ views before decisions are made. 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
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Scope of Responsibility  
As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Excellence in Education Trust has an 
effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 
The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Executive Headteacher who is also the as 
Accounting Officer (AO) of the Trust.  The AO is responsible for ensuring financial controls conform with the 
requirements of both propriety and good financial management in accordance with the requirements and 
responsibilities assigned to the Trust in the funding agreement between Excellence in Education Trust and the 
Secretary of State for Education. The AO is also responsible for reporting to the Board of Trustees any material 
weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control. 
 
Governance  
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees’ Report and in the 
Statement of Trustees’ responsibilities. The Board of Trustees has formally met five times during the year. 
Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Trustees was as follows: 
 
Trustees / Governors Meetings attended Out of a possible Meetings attended Out of a possible 
 2020 2020 2019 2019 
 
Sylvia Libson OBE 4 5 3 4 

Jo Jhally 5 5 4 4 

Waleed Shamki 4 5 2 4 

Alka Varsani 4 5 3 4 

Ivan Deshmukh 3 5 4 4 

Darren Singer 5 5 3 4 

Cyril Copitch 4 5 3 4 

Narinder Nathan 4 5 4 4 

Everton Sharpe 4 5 4 4 

Simrita Singh 4 5 4 4 

 
The Finance and Premises Committee is a sub-committee of the main governing body. The purpose of the Finance 
and Premises Committee is to share the workload of the Accounting Officer in managing and monitoring the 
organisation's finances and premises matters. The Finance and Premises Committee has formally met 4 times during 
the year; 3 times for monitoring meetings and one extraordinary meeting to approve the annual accounts. It also acts 
as the Audit Committee of the Trust. 
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The Finance and Premises Committee provides an opportunity for detailed discussion and consideration of financial 
and property matters, with regular reporting to the full Board of Trustees. It has the delegated authority for most 
financial decision-making, but the full Board of Trustees remains accountable and must remain actively engaged in 
financial and premises matters. 
 
Benefits of the finance and premises committee include:  

 Helping to prevent fraud by ensuring segregation of duties. 
 Allowing the Full Board meetings to focus on a wider range of issues, as detailed financial and property 

discussions can take place within the sub-committee.  
 Facilitates a democratic control of the organisation's finances and estate. 
 Spreading the burden of financial and premises management, thereby also potentially improving its 

quality.  
 Helping train new committee members in financial and premises related matters.  

 
Attendance at Finance and Premises Committee meetings in the year was as follows: 
 
Trustees Meetings attended Out of a possible Meetings attended Out of a possible 
 2020 2020 2019 2019 
 
Sylvia Libson OBE  4 4 3 4 

Jo Jhally 4 4 4 4 

Ivan Deshmukh 4 4 2 4 

Darren Singer 4 4 3 4 

Cyril Copitch  4 4 3 4 

Simrita Singh  4 4 4 4 
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Review of Value for Money 
As Accounting Officer, the Executive Headteacher has the responsibility for ensuring that the Academy Trust 
delivers good value for money in the use of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for 
money refers to the educational and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received. 
 
The Accounting Officer considers how the Trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for money during 
each academic year, and reports to the Board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, including the use 
of benchmarking data where available. The Accounting Officer for the Academy Trust has delivered improved value 
for money during the year by: 
 

 Undertaking a strict tender process to appoint the contractor to carry out the building work in accordance 
with the Phase 1 of the capital development programme of Oakington Manor Primary School. 

 Promote collaborative practices between schools under the Trust to share intellectual capacity, operational 
efficiency and leadership growth 

 Continuous monitoring of market prices and use of effective tendering process in procuring supplies for the 
production kitchen.  

 Holding individual departmental budgets holders personally responsible for the efficient and effective use of 
the allocated budget. The finance team monitors expenditure levels to ensure that no overspend takes place 
and that the appropriate number of quotes and tenders are obtained for various delegated budgets 
 

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control  
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks to the achievement of Academy Trust policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The system of internal control has been in place in Excellence in Education Trust for year ending 31 August 2020 
and is continually reviewed and updated to ensure the control is effective and efficient in risk mitigation. 
 
Capacity to Handle Risk  
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed to, together with the 
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board of 
Trustees is of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Academy 
Trust’s significant risks that have been in place for the year ended 31 August 2020 and up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and financial statements. The Board of Trustees regularly reviews this process. 
 
The Risk and Control Framework  
The Academy Trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management 
information and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and 
accountability. In particular, it includes: 
 

 comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports 
which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees  

 regular reviews by the finance and premises committee of reports which indicate financial performance 
against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes  

 setting targets to measure financial and other performance 
 clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines 
 delegation of authority and segregation of duties 
 identification and management of risks  
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The Risk and Control Framework (continued) 
 
The Board of Trustees has considered the need for a specific internal audit function and has decided to appoint UHY 
Hacker Young LLP, as the internal auditor for the year to 31 August 2020. The internal auditors’ role includes 
giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the Academy Trust’s financial systems. In 
particular the checks carried out in the current year included: 
 

 A review of the cash and banking procedures 
 A review of the purchasing procedures 
 A review of income recognition 
 A review of the fixed assets 
 A review of the payroll procedures 

 
On a quarterly basis, the Accounting Officer through the Finance and Premises Committee, reports to the Board of 
Trustees, on the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees’ financial 
responsibilities.  
 
Review of Effectiveness  
As Accounting Officer, the Executive Headteacher has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. During the year in question, her review has been informed by: 
 

 the work of the internal auditor 
 the work of the external auditor 
 the financial management and governance self-assessment process 
 the work of the business managers within the Academy Trust who have responsibility for the 

development and maintenance of the internal control framework.  
 
The Committee will continue to seek to review and improve on the system of internal control with a view of 
providing the best educational outcomes to the pupil of both academies. 
 
COVID-19 impact statement 
 
Teacher assessments of pupil attainment and progress 
An analysis, of teacher assessments results demonstrates that pupil standards are broadly comparable to previous 
year’s results.  As soon as the lockdown was announced in March, the school mobilised learning packs and 
published materials on the website. Pupils already had well established protocols for online learning platform and 
this was the foundation of remote education to pupils.  As our teachers are already accustomed with remote learning 
provisions, it took a minimal amount of time to set up Google classrooms to enable live remote education for Year 3, 
4, 5 and LCC. School was fully opened to pupils in Reception, Year 1, 2 and 6 and respite care with specialist 
provision was made available in June to LCC.  Assessments of pupil progress were carried out through remote live 
marking; feedback and sharing of pupil outcomes. Parents were informed via 2 reports for spring and summer term. 
 
Impact on staff and pupil 
In order to facilitate remote learning and minimise disruption to pupil education, the Trust offered and delivered 
more than 70 laptops and note books to pupil and staff. Paper copies of learning packs distributed to those attending 
and arrangements made for collection or posting to those absent throughout the lockdown. The Heads of Years and 
Designated Safeguarding Leads were in constant touch with pupils, families and external agencies to ensure the 
safety, health and wellbeing of vulnerable staff and pupil.  
 
In order to maintain the continuity of education and safeguarding duties the following measures were implemented: 
 
- New staff rota established to minimise risk of transmission and support staff wellbeing  
- School and Acorn Nursery opened to all key worker parents/staff  
- Expectations of blended learning established to safeguard educational outcomes 
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Impact on staff and pupil (continued) 
- Training set up for staff and pupils in Year 3, 4 and 5 for google classroom so live teaching could start at 

OM. At Furness a comprehensive online programme established on the website 
- Pupil safety secured through robust Safeguarding protocols - weekly call to check of vulnerable children 

(not attending school) by SLT; DSL;P2B; Year group leaders; class teachers 
- Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSLs) and first aid in schools at all times 
- Food parcels and food vouchers issued to parents as appropriate 
- Comprehensive information on the school website to support parents with learning and for children to 

undertake self-directed learning in a fun way ensured pupils learning was maintained 
- An analyses of strengths and challenges posed by the lockdown were as follows: 
 

Successes Challenges 

 Positive comments from parents for 
google classroom 

 Wellbeing sessions with whole 
classes (circle times) very popular 
and much appreciated by pupils to 
see their peers across all ages 

 Majority of pupils were punctual and 
eager to learn 

 EYFS programme of keeping in 
touch and wellbeing was successful 
and well attended 

 LCC programme provided much 
appreciated respite for parents and 
children from mainstream included 
when appropriate 

 Attendance in Year 6, 5, 4 was 
excellent 

 Parents appreciated the welfare calls 
and food vouchers/parcels 

 Well trained staff, parents and pupil 
ready for any anticipated lockdowns 
or closures in the future 

 Systems and protocols in place for 
immediate execution of the remote 
learning plan were effective 

 Having to maintain full timetable on remote 
teaching and providing childcare provision 

 Having to send home learning packs to those not 
attending school and still maintaining full remote 
teaching timetable 

 Workload of teachers became overwhelming as there 
was constant demand for communication via email 
(both pupils and parents)  

 Younger children found sustaining interest difficult 
via zoom and google classroom 

 Disruptions to the remote learning due to wider 
opening as parents / staff found changes disruptive 

 Some children found uploading work difficult 
 Uptake in Year 3/2 was at a slower pace than other 

year groups 
 IMPACT in SEPTEMBER: 

- EYFS/Year 1- difficulty settling back; 
training needs; immaturity 

- Language and Communication –regression 
in pupil’s oracy 

- Writing across the school (many children 
struggling to write; pace; spelling; grammar; 
handwriting and punctuation) 

- Reading and Maths- positive outcomes for 
majority of the children 

- Resilience and enjoyment of school – 
excellent 

- Physical fitness of pupils compromised 
 
Operational impact 
The Trust’s focus on forward planning and constant updating of IT infrastructure helped schools to provide quality 
education during the period of shutdown. Virtual classrooms, delivery and assessments progressed without any 
delay. Teachers and administrative staff were provided with necessary tools and assistance ensuring a smooth 
transition to remote learning and administration. Site and cleaning staff were put under great pressure to provide a 
safe educational environment to pupil and staff who were present on site. Within couple of days, schools established 
a robust structure for teaching, assessments, reporting and administrative functions ensuring adoption to the new-
normalcy without delay. Focusing on staff wellbeing and safety, rota-systems were established for pupil learning and 
delivery ensuring minimal disruption to pupil education. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
 
TO THE MEMBERS OF EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
Opinion                 
We have audited the financial statements of Excellence in Education Trust for the year ended 31 August 2020 which 
comprise of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities, (including income and expenditure account and 
statement of total recognised gains and losses) the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Academy Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), 
the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency. 
 
In our opinion, Excellence in Education Trust’s financial statements (the “financial statements”): 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group and charitable company’s affairs as at 31 August 2020 and 
of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year 
then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and 
 have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 

2019 to 2020. 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the academy trust in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report 
to you where: 
 

 the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or 

 the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the Academy Trust’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue. 

 
Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

 the information given in the Trustees’ Report including the incorporated strategic report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 the Trustees’ Report, including the incorporated strategic report, have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Academy Trust and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees’ Report, including the incorporated strategic 
report. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
 certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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TO THE MEMBERS OF EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our 
auditors’ report. 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance with part 3 of Chapter 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and 
the charitable company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed 

Mital Shah (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of UHY Hacker Young 

Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditor      

Quadrant House 
4 Thomas More Square 
London  E1W 1YW  

________December 2020 14
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INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANT’S ASSURANCE REPORT ON REGULARITY TO THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST AND THE EDUCATION AND 
SKILLS FUNDING AGENCY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 6 September 2020 and further to the requirements of the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA), as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020, we 
have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and income 
received by  Excellence in Education Trust during the year to 31 August 2020 have been applied to the purposes 
identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

This report is made solely to Excellence in Education Trust and the ESFA in accordance with the terms of our 
engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to Excellence in Education Trust and the 
ESFA those matters we are required to state to it in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Excellence in Education Trust and the ESFA, 
for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the Excellence in Education Trust’s accounting officer and the reporting 
accountant  
The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements of Excellence in Education Trust‘s funding agreement 
with the Secretary of State for Education dated 1 October 2011 and the Academies Financial Handbook, extant from 
1 September 2019, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes intended 
by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical guidance 
and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements of the 
Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020. We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in 
carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during 
the year to 31 August 2020 have not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that financial transactions 
do not conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Approach  
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020, issued by the 
ESFA.  We performed a limited assurance engagement, as defined in our engagement letter. 

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and 
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on 
regularity. 

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently, 
does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified 
in a reasonable assurance engagement.  Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion. 

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the 
Academy Trust’s income and expenditure. 
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST AND THE EDUCATION & SKILLS 
FUNDING AGENCY (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 

The work undertaken to draw our conclusion includes: 

 Evaluation of the general control environment
 Confirmation that the internal delegations have been approved by the governing body, and conform to the

limits set by the Department for Education
 Review of the declaration of interests to ensure completeness
 Review of minutes for evidence of declaration of interest
 A sample of payments has been reviewed to confirm that each item has been appropriately authorised in

accordance with the Academy Trust’s delegated authorities
 A sample of cash payments were reviewed for unusual transactions
 A sample of expenditure items were reviewed against specific terms of grant funding within the funding

agreement
 Formal representations have obtained from the governing body and the accounting officer acknowledging

their responsibilities for matters relating to regularity and propriety

Conclusion 

It has been noted that the Trust has not published the following on its website, as required by the Academies 
Financial Handbook 2020: 

 Up-to-date details of the Academy Trust’s governance arrangements in a readily accessible format; and
 The Academy Trust’s financial accounts.

The Trust itself does not have a website, however, each school website has a web page for the Trust where, as 
required by the Academies Financial Handbook, EiET has published all Governance arrangements and the financial 
accounts. The Trust is in a process of commissioning its own website and, as such, the above matters will be 
considered and published upon completion of the website.  

Other than the above, in the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that, in all 
material respect, the expenditure disbursed and income received during the year to 31 August 2020, has not been 
applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 

UHY Hacker Young 
Reporting Accountant 

Quadrant House 
4 Thomas More Square 
London 
E1W 1YW  

 December 2020 14
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
(INCLUDING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT AND STATEMENT OF TOTAL 
RECOGNISED GAINS & LOSSES) 

Restricted funds 
Unrestricted General Fixed 2020 2019  

Notes fund funds asset fund Total Total  
£ £ £ £ £ 

Income and endowments from: 
Donations and capital grants 2 - - 20,577 20,577 58,480 

Charitable activities 
Funding for the Academy Trust’s 
educational operations 3 - 7,204,604 - 7,204,604 7,105,314  
Other trading activities 4 968,481 - - 968,481 1,496,526  
Investments 5 7,113 - - 7,113 20,172 

________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Total income and endowments 975,594 7,204,604 20,577 8,200,775 8,680,492  
________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Expenditure on: 
 Raising funds 6 839,857 - - 839,857 989,488 
Charitable activities: 

 Educational operations 7 - 7,180,952 618,800 7,799,752 7,855,719 
________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Total resources expended 839,857 7,180,952 618,800 8,639,609 8,845,207  
________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Net incoming resources 
before transfers 135,737 23,652 (598,223) (438,834) (164,715) 

Gross transfers between funds - (2,338,306) 2,338,306 - - 
________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Net income/(expense) for the year 135,737 (2,314,654) 1,740,083 (438,834) (164,715) 

Other recognised gains and losses 
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit 28 - 22,000 - 22,000 (826,000) 
pension schemes ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Net movement in funds 135,737 (2,292,654) 1,740,083 (416,834) (990,715) 
________ ________ ________ ________ _________  

Total funds brought forward at 
31 August 2019 18 3,154,281 (1,475,386) 21,256,791 22,935,686 23,926,401 

________ ________ ________ ________ _________ 
Total funds carried forward at 
31 August 2020 18 3,290,018 (3,768,040) 22,996,874 22,518,852 22,935,686 

======= ======= ======= ======= ======== 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
(INCLUDING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT AND STATEMENT OF TOTAL 
RECOGNISED GAINS & LOSSES) 
 
   
Comparative   Restricted funds 
   Unrestricted General Fixed 2019 
  Notes fund funds asset fund Total 
     £ £ £ £ 
Income and endowments from: 
 Donations and capital grants 2  911 - 57,569 58,480 
 
Charitable activities 
 Funding for the Academy Trust’s   
 educational operations 3  - 7,105,314 - 7,105,314 
 Other trading activities 4  1,496,526 - - 1,496,526 
 Investments 5  20,172 - - 20,172 
     ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Total income and endowments   1,517,609 7,105,314 57,569 8,680,492 
     ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Expenditure on: 
 Raising funds 6  989,488 - - 989,488 
Charitable activities: 
   Educational operations 7  - 7,196,236 659,483 7,855,719 
     ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Total resources expended   989,488 7,196,236 659,483 8,845,207 
     ________ ________ ________ ________ 
Net incoming resources 
before transfers   528,121 (90,922) (601,914) (164,715) 
 
Gross transfers between funds   - (205,021) 205,021 - 
     ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
Net income/(expense) for the year   528,121 (295,943) (396,893) (164,715) 
 
Other recognised gains and losses 
Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit 28  - (826,000) - (826,000) 
pension schemes   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
      
Net movement in funds   528,121 (1,121,943) (396,893) (990,715) 
     ________ ________ ________ ________ 
Total funds brought forward at 
31 August 2018 18  2,626,160 (353,443) 21,653,684 23,926,401 
     ________ ________ ________ _________ 
Total funds carried forward at 
31 August 2019 18  3,154,281 (1,475,386) 21,256,791 22,935,686 
     ======= ======= ======= ======== 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
 
                         Notes  2020  2019 
    £  £ 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Net cash provided by operating activities  22 226,616  615,514
       
 
Cash flows from investing activities  24 (2,338,307)  (204,133) 
     
      
Cash flows from financing activities  23 7,113  20,172 
    _________ _________ 
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the 
reporting year   (2,104,578) 431,553 
 
 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 2019  25 5,455,254 5,023,701 
    _________ _________
  
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 2020  25 3,350,676 5,455,254 
    ======== ======== 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
1 Statement of accounting policies 
 
Company Information 
Excellence in Education Trust is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in England and Wales. The registered 
office is Oakington Manor Drive, Wembley, United Kingdom, HA9 6NF. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The accounts of the Academy Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to 
charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP 2019), the Academies Accounts Direction 2019 to 2020 issued by 
ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Excellence in Education Trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. 
 
A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where noted), 
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
These financial statements consolidate on a line-by-line basis the results of the Academy Trust and its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Acorn Manor Limited. A separate statement of financial activities (incorporating an income and 
expenditure account) for the Company itself is not presented because the Company has taken advantage of the 
exemptions afforded by section 230 of the Companies Act 2006 and paragraph 397 of SORP 2019. The Academy 
Trust's net expenditure for the year, excluding actuarial gains and losses, was £438,834 (2019: £164,715). 
 
Going concern 
The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material uncertainties 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the academy to continue as a going 
concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a year of one year from the date of approval of the financial 
statements and have concluded that the academy trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial 
statements. 
  
Income 
All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is probable 
and the amount can be measured reliably. 
 
Grants receivable  
Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income received 
for specific purposes but not expended during the year is shown in the relevant funds on the balance sheet. Where 
income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions there is not unconditional entitlement 
to the income and its recognition is deferred and included in creditor as deferred income until the performance-
related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued.  
 
General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which it is 
receivable and any abatement in respect of the year is deducted from income and recognised as a liability.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020  
 
 
1 Statement of accounting policies (continued) 

 
Capital grants are recognised where there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they 
are expended. Unspent amounts of capital grant are reflected in the balance in the restricted fixed asset fund.  
 
Donations 
Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) where the receipt 
is probable and the amount can be reliably measured. 
 
Other income 
Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the year it is receivable and to the extent the goods 
have been provided or on completion of the service.    
 
Donated goods, services and gifts in kind 
Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected proceeds from sale less the expected costs of 
sale. If it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is recognised in stock and ‘Income from other trading 
activities’. Upon sale, the value of the stock is charged against ‘Income from other trading activities’ and the 
proceeds are recognised as ‘Income from other trading activities’. Where it is impractical to fair value the items due 
to the volume of low value items they are not recognised in the financial statements until they are sold. This income 
is recognised within ‘Income from other trading activities’.  
 
Where the donated good is a fixed asset it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure this reliably, 
in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is recognised as income from donations and 
a corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over the useful economic 
life in accordance with the academy trust‘s accounting policies. 
 
On becoming an academy, the land and property of the predecessor school was transferred to the academy for nil 
consideration. The valuation of the land and buildings as at the date of conversion was prepared by Lambert, Smith 
Hampton on a depreciated replacement cost basis. 
 
Expenditure 
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third 
party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the 
obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up of 
the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs 
attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one 
activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on a 
basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and 
depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s use. 
  
Expenditure on raising funds  
This includes all expenditure incurred by the Academy Trust to raise funds for its charitable purposes and includes 
costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading. 
 
Charitable activities 
These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust’s educational operations, including support costs and costs relating to 
the governance of the academy trust apportioned to charitable activities. 
 
All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020  
 
 
1 Statement of accounting policies (continued) 
 
Tangible fixed assets 
Assets costing £1,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of depreciation and 
any provision for impairment. 
 
Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or from 
the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost or donated market value and depreciated over their 
expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the continued 
use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities 
and carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on such assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset 
fund in the Statement of Financial Activities.  
 
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off the cost 
of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful lives, as follows:  
 

Freehold buildings 3% 
Freehold building improvements 5-10%  
Computer equipment 33%  
Fixtures and fittings 20%  
 

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until they are 
brought into use. 
 
Impairment of fixed assets 
At each reporting period end date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Academy Trust estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased to apply. 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or cash-generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020  
 
 
1 Statement of accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments  
The academy Trust has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 
‘Other Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments.  
 
Financial instruments are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Basic financial assets 
Basic financial assets, which include debtors and cash and bank balances, are initially measured at transaction price 
including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless 
the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present value of the 
future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial assets classified as receivable within one year are not 
amortised. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end date. Financial assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been affected. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is 
the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying 
amount would have been, had the impairment not previously been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are 
settled, or when the company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
another entity, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control of the asset has 
transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party. 
 
Classification of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the company after 
deducting all of its liabilities. 
 
Basic financial liabilities, including creditors, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement 
constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts 
discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial liabilities classified as payable within one year are not amortised. 
 
Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers. Amounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade creditors are recognised initially at transaction price 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
1 Statement of accounting policies (continued) 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the company’s contractual obligations expire or are discharged or 
cancelled. 
 
Provisions  
Provisions are recognised when the academy Trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past event 
which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the 
time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those amounts, discounted at the pre-
tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised within 
interest payable and similar charges. 
 
Leased assets 
Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
Investments 
The academy’s shareholding in the wholly owned subsidiary, Acorn Manor Limited, is included in the balance sheet 
at the cost of the share capital owned less any impairment. There is no readily available market value and the cost of 
valuation exceeds the benefit derived. 
  
Taxation 
The academy is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and therefore 
it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the academy is 
potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by Chapter 
3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the 
extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. 
  
Employee benefits 
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense. The cost of any unused 
holiday entitlement is recognised in the year in which the employee’s services are received. 
 
Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed to 
terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits. 
 
Pension benefits 
Retirement benefits to employees of the academy are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (‘TPS’) and the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’). These are defined benefit schemes and the assets are held separately 
from those of the academy trust. 
  
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees' 
working lives with the Academy Trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level percentage of 
current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government Actuary on the basis of 
quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. As stated in note 28, the TPS is a multi-employer 
scheme and there is insufficient information available to use defined benefit accounting. The TPS is therefore treated 
as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions are recognised in the year to which 
they relate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
1 Statement of accounting policies (continued) 
 
The LGPS is a funded scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the Academy Trust in separate trustee 
administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial 
basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high 
quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least 
triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current 
service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included 
as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the 
statement of financial activities and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income 
on the scheme assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the year by the 
rate used to discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the 
actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses.  
 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses. 
  
Fund accounting 
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the charitable 
objects of the academy at the discretion of the Trustees. 
  
Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency, the Department for Education or other funders where the asset acquired or 
created is held for a specific purpose. 
  
Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received and include grants from the Education Funding 
Agency.   
 
Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 
Accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates and 
assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below. 
 
Pension Liability 
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of factors 
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net 
cost or income for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 
28, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore a roll forward approach which projects 
results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2016 has been used by the actuary in valuing 
the pensions liability at 31 August 2020. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach 
and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability. 
 
Critical areas of judgement 
The Trustees do not consider that they have made any critical judgements in the preparation of the financial 
statements.  
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2  Income and endowment funds   Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
   fund funds 2020 2019 
    £ £ £ £ 
 
 Capital grants - 20,577 20,577 57,569 
 Other donations - -  - 911 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ 
  
  - 20,577 20,577 58,480 
  ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 
3  Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations 
      
  Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
  fund funds 2020 2019 
   £ £ £ £ 
 DfE / ESFA grants  
 - General Annual Grant (GAG)   - 5,465,039 5,465,039 5,712,017 
 - Other DfE / ESFA grants - 685,519 685,519 544,790 
   ________ ________ _______ ________ 
 
   - 6,150,558 6,150,558 6,256,807 
 Other Government grants  
 - Local authority grants   - 928,865 928,865 798,429 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
   - 928,865  928,865 798,429 
    ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 Other funds 

- Other income from the Academy Trust’s 
educational operations - 27,561 27,561 50,078 

    ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
    - 27,561 27,561 50,078 
    ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
  Exceptional government funding 

- Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant   - 97,620  97,620 - 
    ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
    - 97,620 97,620 - 
    ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
 Total funding - 7,204,604 7,204,604 7,105,314 
    ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 

The income from the Academy Trust’s educational operations in 2020 was £7,204,604 of which £7,106,984 
was restricted general funds and £97,620 was a Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant. 
 
The Academy Trust has been eligible to claim additional funding in year from government support schemes in 
response to the Coronavirus outbreak. The funding received is shown above under “exceptional government 
funding”.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
3  Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations (contined) 
 

The funding received for Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme covers £97,620 of salaries and wages related 
costs. These costs are included in note 8. 

 
4. Other trading activities     
   Unrestricted          Restricted Total Total 
    fund                  funds 2020 2019 
     £ £ £ £ 

 Hire of facilities  158,225 - 158,225 367,045 
 Nursery fee income  180,572 - 180,572 279,480 
 Trip income  4,205 - 4,205 52,585 
 Club income  98,806 - 98,806 139,014 
 Catering income  411,469 - 411,469 603,048 
 Other income  28,574 - 28,574 30,597 
 Sales of other goods and services  86,630 - 86,630 24,757 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
   968,481 - 968,481 1,496,526 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 
5  Investment income 
   Unrestricted  Restricted  Total Total  
    fund  funds  2020 2019  
    £  £  £ £ 

  Short term deposits  7,113 - 7,113 20,172 
     ======= ======= ======= ======= 
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6  Expenditure 
  Non pay expenditure 
  Staff  Other Total Total 
    costs Premises costs 2020 2019 
    £ £ £ £ £ 
    (note 8)    

 Academy’s educational operations (note 7) 
 -  direct costs  4,651,932 - 119,168 4,771,100 4,700,432 
 -  allocated support costs  1,061,200 1,002,308 965,144 3,028,652 3,155,287 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

   5,713,132 1,002,308 1,084,312 7,799,752 7,855,719 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Expenditure on raising funds 702,413 - 137,444 839,857 989,488 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

   6,415,545 1,002,308 1,221,756 8,639,609 8,845,207 
  ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 

Net expenditure for the year includes:     2020 2019 
     £ £ 

     
Fees paid to auditor for:  

- audit services     10,750 10,000 
- other services     4,000 4,000 

 Legal and professional fees     186,482 252,604 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets     618,801 658,595 
     ======= ======= 

7 Charitable activities         
       Total        Total 
       2020 2019  
       £ £ 
 
 Direct costs – educational operations     4,771,100 4,700,433 
 Support costs – educational operations     3,028,652 3,155,287 
       ________ ________ 
 
       7,799,752 7,855,719 
       ======= ======= 
   
    Total Total 
    2020 2019 
    £ £ 
 Analysis of support costs  
 Support staff costs    1,061,200 1,106,954 
 Depreciation (fixed asset restricted fund)   618,801 658,595 
 Loss on disposal of fixed assets   - 888 
 Technology costs   25,555 125,459 
 Premises costs    383,508 244,662 
 Other support costs   742,954 779,639 
 Governance costs   196,634 239,089 
     ________ ________ 
 
 Total support costs   3,028,652 3,155,287 
     ======= ======= 
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8  Staff costs 
 
 Staff costs during the year were: 2020 2019 
  Total Total 
  £ £ 
 
 Wages and salaries 4,841,154 4,637,993 
 Social security costs 437,465 741,767 
 Pension costs 1,093,817 1,044,442 
 Apprenticeship levy 8,972 9,914 
  ________ ________ 
    
  6,381,408 6,434,116 
 
 Supply teacher costs 34,137 42,507 
  ________ ________ 
 
  6,415,545 6,476,623 
  ======= ======= 

 
Included in staff costs are non-statutory / non-contractual severance payments totalling £30,000. 
 
The average number of persons (including senior management team) employed by the academy during the year 
was as follows: 

  2020 2019 
  Number Number 
  
 Teachers 76 69 
 Administration and support 105 106 
 Management 4 5 
  ________ ________
    
  185 180 
  ======= ======= 
 The number of employees whose emoluments fell within the following bands was: 
 
  2020 2019 
  Number Number 
 
 £  60,001 - £  70,000 - 2 
 £  70,001 - £  80,000 1 - 
 £  80,001 - £  90,000 1 1 
 £ 100,001 - £ 110,000 - - 
 £ 120,001 - £ 130,000 - 1 
  ======= ======= 
 

2 of the above employees participated in the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (2019: 3). During the year ended 31 
August 2020, pension contributions for these staff amounted to £37,601 (2019: £34,487).  

 
9.  Central services 
 
 The Academy Trust has not provided any centralised services during the year.  
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10.  Key management personnel 
 

The key management personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the trustees and the senior management team as 
listed on page 2. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions) received by 
key management personnel for their services to the Academy Trust were £252,735 (2019: £381,435). 

 
11.  Trustees' remuneration and expenses  
  

The Headteacher and Staff Trustees only receive remuneration in respect of services they provide undertaking 
the roles of Headteacher and Staff and not in respect of their services as Trustees. Other Trustees did not 
receive any payments from the academy in respect of their role as Trustees. The value of Headteacher and Staff 
Trustees’ remuneration was as follows: 
 
Simrita Singh (Head Teacher and Trustee) 
 Remuneration  £85,001-£90,000 Employer pension contributions  £20,001-£25,000  
 
Cyril Copitch (Facilities Manager, Oakington Manor Primary and Staff Trustee) 
 Remuneration  £30,001-£35,000 Employer pension contributions  £0-£5,000 

 
12  Trustees' and Officers' insurance 
   

In accordance with normal commercial practice, the academy has purchased insurance to protect Trustees and 
officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on academy business. The 
insurance provides cover up to £1,000,000 on any one claim and the cost for the year ended 31 August 2020 
was included in the total insurance cost of £2,000. 
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13  Tangible fixed assets – Group and Academy Trust 
 
 
  Freehold    Assets 
  Land and Building Computer Furniture & Under 
  Buildings Improvements Equipment Fittings Construction Total 
  £ £ £ £  £ 
 Cost 
 At 1 September 2019 22,291,682 233,445 472,658 90,370 303,400 23,391,555 
 Additions - 64,618 46,192 3,575 2,244,499 2,358,884  
 Disposals - - (3,390) - - (3,390) 
  _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 
 At 31 August 2020 22,291,682 298,063 515,460 93,945 2,547,899 25,747,049 
  _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 Depreciation 
 At 1 September 2019 (1,700,577) (23,414) (358,201) (52,572) - (2,134,764) 
 Charge in year (501,033) (14,275) (82,177) (21,316) - (618,801) 
 Released on disposal - - 3,390 - - 3,390 
  _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 
 At 31 August 2020 (2,201,610) (37,689) (436,988) (73,888) - (2,750,175)
  _________ _________ _________ _________ _________ _________  

Net book values   
 At 31 August 2020 20,090,072 260,374 78,472 20,057 2,547,899 22,996,874 
  ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== 
 At 31 August 2019 20,591,105 210,031 114,457 37,798 303,400 21,256,791 
  ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== 
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14  Subsidiary - Academy 
 

Acorn Manor Limited is a company limited by guarantee of which its members are also members of the 
Academy Trust. Excellence in Education Trust has 100% effective control of the company. Acorn Manor 
Limited is effectively a subsidiary of the Trust and the figures have been consolidated into the accounts as at 31 
August 2020.  

 
 Company  Country of registration or Effective control 
  incorporation  Class  % 
      
 Acorn Manor Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100.00 
 
 Acorn Manor Limited carries out the trading activities of the Academy Trust such as lettings and uniform sales. 
 
 The results of the subsidiary for the year ended 31 August 2020 were as follows: 

      £ 
 
Turnover      1,037,912 
Operating expenses      (1,075,928) 
      _______ 
       
 
Net loss before taxation      (38,016) 
Taxation charge      - 
      _______ 
Loss for the year      (38,016)
      ======= 
 

 At 31 August 2020, the aggregate amount of net assets and reserves was as follows: 
      £ 
 
Current assets      231,382 
Current liabilities      (269,398) 
      _______ 
      (38,016) 
      ======= 
Represented by: 
Retained losses      (38,016) 
      _______ 
 
      (38,016) 
      ======= 

15 Financial instruments 
 

The trustees have considered the Academy Trust’s exposure to credit, cash flow and liquidity risks as part of its 
annual risk assessment procedures. Risks are assessed within the Academy Trust’s risk register and monitored 
throughout the year. The trustees do not consider the Academy Trust to be materially exposed to credit, cash 
flow or liquidity risk, owing to sufficient bank balances and limited debtor exposures.  
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16 Debtors Group Academy Group Academy 
  2020 2020 2019 2019 
     As restated 
  £ £  £ £ 
 
 Trade debtors 12,672 3,235 40,461 5,809 
 VAT recoverable 192,363 192,363 19,656 31,517 
 Amounts due from subsidiary - 223,343 - 124,501 
 Other debtors 3,124 - 3,942 817 
 Prepayments and accrued income 84,404 84,344 60,932 60,932 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
  292,563 503,285 124,991 223,576 
  ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 
 
17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year Group Academy Group Academy 
  2020 2020 2019 2019 
  £ £ £ £ 
 
 Trade creditors 5,440 5,326 23,456 26,577 
 Other taxation and social security 35,714 32,204 32,204 32,204 
 Accruals and deferred income (see below) 449,640 440,678 309,220 280,931 
 Other creditors 33,467 - 73,470 62,000 
  ________ ________ ________ ________ 
 
  524,261 478,208 438,350 401,712 
  ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 
 
 Deferred income Group Academy Group Academy 
  2020 2020 2019 2019 
  £ £ £ £ 
 
 Deferred income at 1 September 117,577 105,027 142,783 119,093 
 Income deferred in the year 106,124 102,184 117,577 105,027 
 Amounts released from previous years (117,577) (105,027) (142,783) (119,093) 
  ________ ________ ________ ________
 Deferred income at 31 August 2020 included in  
   accruals and deferred income above 106,124 102,184 117,577 105,027 
  ======= ======= ======= ======= 
  

At the balance sheet date the group was holding funds of £106,124 (2019: £117,577) received in advance for 
nursery fees, universal free school meals and lettings income. 
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18 Funds – Group 
   
  Balance at    Balance at 
  31 August Incoming Resources Gains, losses 31August 
  2019 resources expended & transfers 2020 
   £ £ £ £ £ 
 Restricted general funds 
 General Annual Grant (GAG) 1,987,614 5,465,039 (5,285,387) (2,338,306) (171,040) 
 Other DfE/ESFA grants - 685,519 (685,519) - - 
 Other government grants - 1,026,485 (1,026,485) - - 
 Activities for generating funds - 27,561 (27,561) - - 
  
 Pension reserve (note 28) (3,463,000) - (156,000) 22,000 (3,597,000) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted general funds (1,475,386) 7,204,604 (7,180,952) (2,316,306) (3,768,040) 

   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Restricted fixed asset funds 
 Inherited fixed asset fund 20,202,419 - (598,223) - 19,604,196 
 DfE/ESFA capital grants - 20,577 (20,577) - - 
 GAG CIPTI purchases 1,054,372 - - 2,338,306 3,392,678 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted fixed asset funds 21,256,791 20,577 (618,800) 2,338,306 22,996,874 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total restricted funds 19,781,405 7,225,181 (7,799,752) 22,000 19,228,834 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Unrestricted fund 
 Unrestricted fund  3,154,281 975,594 (839,857) - 3,290,018 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total funds  22,935,686 8,200,775 (8,639,609) 22,000 22,518,852 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 
 The purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 

 General Annual Grant 
The General Annual Grant must be used for the normal running costs of the Academy including salary costs, 
overheads, premises costs and curriculum costs. Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the 
Academy was not subject to a limit on the amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2020. 
 
Other DfE/EFA and government grants 
Other grants include funding received from the DfE and Local Education Authorities for specific purposes. 
 
Fixed asset fund 
The fixed asset fund includes grants received from the DfE and other sources to finance the purchase of 
tangible fixed assets.  
 
Pension reserve 
The pension reserve is the element of the local government pension fund liability attributable to the Academy 
(see note 28). 
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18 Funds – Group (continued) 

 
Comparative information in respect of the previous period is as follows: 
 

       
  Balance at    Balance at 
  31 August Incoming Resources Gains, losses 31August 
  2018 resources expended & transfers 2019 
   £ £ £ £ £ 
 Restricted general funds 
 General Annual Grant (GAG) 2,170,557 5,712,017 (5,689,939) (205,021) 1,987,614 
 Other DfE/ESFA grants - 544,790 (544,790) - - 
 Other government grants - 798,429 (798,429) - - 
 Activities for generating funds - 50,078 (50,078) - - 
  
 Pension reserve (note 28) (2,524,000) - (113,000) (826,000) (3,463,000) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted general funds (353,443) 7,105,314 (7,196,236) (1,031,021) (1,475,386) 

   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Restricted fixed asset funds 
 Inherited fixed asset fund 20,804,333 - (601,914) - 20,202,419 
 DfE/ESFA capital grants - 57,569 (57,569) - - 
 GAG CIPTI purchases 849,351 - - 205,021 1,054,372 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted fixed asset funds 21,653,684 57,569 (659,483) 205,021 21,256,791 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total restricted funds 21,300,241 7,162,883 (7,855,719) (826,000) 19,781,405 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Unrestricted fund 
 Unrestricted fund  2,626,160 1,517,609 (989,488) - 3,154,281 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total funds  23,926,401 8,680,492 (8,845,207) (826,000) 22,935,686 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 
 The purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 

 General Annual Grant 
The General Annual Grant must be used for the normal running costs of the Academy including salary costs, 
overheads, premises costs and curriculum costs. Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the 
Academy was not subject to a limit on the amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2019. 
 
Other DfE/EFA and government grants 
Other grants include funding received from the DfE and Local Education Authorities for specific purposes. 
 
Fixed asset fund 
The fixed asset fund includes grants received from the DfE and other sources to finance the purchase of 
tangible fixed assets.  
 
Pension reserve 
The pension reserve is the element of the local government pension fund liability attributable to the Academy 
(see note 28). 



EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 

52 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020 
 
 
18 Funds – Group (continued) 

 
Total funds analysis by academy 
 
Fund balances at 31 August 2020 were allocated as follows: 

     
  2020 2019 
  £ £ 
  
 Oakington Manor Primary School 1,398,310 3,342,613 
 Furness Primary School 1,720,668 1,799,282 
  _________ _________ 
 
 Total before fixed assets and pension reserve 3,118,978 5,141,895 
 Restricted fixed asset reserve 22,996,874 21,256,791 
 Pension reserve (3,597,000) (3,463,000) 
  _________ _________ 
 
 Total 22,518,852 22,935,686 

 ======== ========= 
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19 Funds – Academy Trust 
 
  Balance at    Balance at 
  31 August Incoming Resources Gains, losses 31August 
  2019 resources expended & transfers 2020 
   As restated 
   £ £ £ £ £ 
 Restricted general funds 
 General Annual Grant (GAG) 1,987,614 5,465,037 (5,285,385) (2,338,306) (171,040) 
 Other DfE/ESFA grants - 685,519 (685,519) - - 
 Other government grants - 726,061 (726,061) - - 
 Activities generating funds - 27,562 (27,562) - - 
 Pension reserve (note 28) (3,463,000) - (156,000) 22,000 (3,597,000) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted general funds (1,475,386) 6,904,179 (6,880,527) (2,316,306) (3,768,040) 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Restricted fixed asset funds 
 Acquired on conversion 20,202,419 - (598,223) - 19,604,196 
 DfE/ESFA capital grants - 20,577 (20,577) - - 
 GAG CIPTI purchases 1,054,372 - - 2,338,306 3,392,678 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted fixed asset funds 21,256,791 20,577 (618,800) 2,338,306 22,996,874 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total restricted funds 19,781,405 6,924,756 (7,449,327) 22,000 19,228,834 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Unrestricted fund 
 Unrestricted fund  2,917,070 601,548 (190,585) - 3,328,033 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total funds  22,698,475 7,526,304 (7,689,912) 22,000 22,556,867 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
  
 The purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 

 General Annual Grant 
The General Annual Grant must be used for the normal running costs of the Academy including salary costs, 
overheads, premises costs and curriculum costs. Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the 
Academy was not subject to a limit on the amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2020. 
 
Other DfE/EFA and government grants 
Other grants include funding received from the DfE and Local Education Authorities for specific purposes. 
 
Fixed asset fund 
The fixed asset fund includes grants received from the DfE and other sources to finance the purchase of 
tangible fixed assets.  
 
Pension reserve 
The pension reserve is the element of the local government pension fund liability attributable to the Academy 
(see note 28). 
 
Transfer between funds 
A transfer from restricted general funds to the restricted fixed asset fund was necessary to fund capital 
expenditure carried out during the year. A transfer between restricted and unrestricted was necessary to reflect 
the funding of activities in the year.  
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19 Funds – Academy Trust (continued)  

 
Comparative information in respect of the previous period is as follows: 

     
  Balance at    Balance at 
  31 August Incoming Resources Gains, losses 31August 
  2018 resources expended & transfers 2019 
   As restated As restated   As restated 
   £ £ £ £ £ 
 Restricted general funds 
 General Annual Grant (GAG) 2,170,557 5,712,017 (5,689,939) (205,021) 1,987,614 
 Other DfE/ESFA grants - 544,790 (544,790) - - 
 Other government grants - 798,429 (798,429) - - 
 Activities generating funds - 50,078 (50,078) - - 
 Pension reserve (note 28) (2,524,000) - (113,000) (826,000) (3,463,000) 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted general funds (353,443) 7,105,314 (7,196,236) (1,031,021) (1,475,386) 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Restricted fixed asset funds 
 Acquired on conversion 20,804,333 - (601,914) - 20,202,419 
 DfE/ESFA capital grants - 57,569 (57,569) - - 
 GAG CIPTI purchases 849,351 - - 205,021 1,054,372 
   ________ ________ ________ ________ ________ 

 Total restricted fixed asset funds 21,653,684 57,569 (659,483) 205,021 21,256,791 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total restricted funds 21,300,241 7,162,883 (7,855,719) (826,000) 19,781,405 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= =======
 Unrestricted fund 
 Unrestricted fund  2,626,160 214,270 76,640 - 2,917,070 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
 Total funds  23,926,401 7,377,153 (7,779,079) (826,000) 22,698,475 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
  
 The purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 

 General Annual Grant 
The General Annual Grant must be used for the normal running costs of the Academy including salary costs, 
overheads, premises costs and curriculum costs. Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the 
Academy was not subject to a limit on the amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2019. 
 
Other DfE/EFA and government grants 
Other grants include funding received from the DfE and Local Education Authorities for specific purposes. 
 
Fixed asset fund 
The fixed asset fund includes grants received from the DfE and other sources to finance the purchase of 
tangible fixed assets. 
 
Pension reserve 
The pension reserve is the element of the local government pension fund liability attributable to the Academy 
(see note 28). 
 
 
  
 



EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION TRUST 
 

55 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020  
 
 
19 Funds – Academy Trust (continued) 

 
Transfer between funds 
A transfer from restricted general funds to the restricted fixed asset fund was necessary to fund capital 
expenditure carried out during the year. A transfer between restricted and unrestricted was necessary to reflect 
the funding of activities in the year. 
 

20 Analysis of net assets between funds – Group 
 
  
 Fund balances at 31 August 2020 are represented by: 
     
     Restricted Restricted Total 
    Unrestricted general fixed asset funds 
    funds funds funds 2020 
    £  £  £  £ 
 
 Tangible fixed assets   - - 22,996,874 22,996,874 
 Current assets   3,336,071 307,168 - 3,643,239 
 Current liabilities   (46,054) (478,207) - (524,261) 
 Pension scheme liability  - (3,597,000) - (3,597,000) 
    _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 
 Total net assets   3,290,017 (3,768,039) 22,996,874 22,518,852 
    ======== ======== ======== ======== 
 
  
  
 Fund balances at 31 August 2019 are represented by: 
     Restricted Restricted Total 
    Unrestricted general fixed asset funds 
    funds funds funds 2019 
    £  £  £  £ 
 
 Tangible fixed assets   - - 21,256,791 21,256,791 
 Current assets   3,190,918 2,389,328 - 5,580,245 
 Current liabilities   (36,637) (401,712) - (438,350) 
 Pension scheme liability  - (3,463,000) - (3,463,000) 
    _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 
 Total net assets   3,154,281 (1,475,386) 21,256,791 22,935,686 
    ======== ======== ======== ======== 
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21 Analysis of net assets between funds – Academy Trust 
 
 Fund balances at 31 August 2020 are represented by: 
     Restricted Restricted Total 
    Unrestricted general fixed asset funds 
    funds funds funds 2020 
    £ £ £ £ 
 
 Tangible fixed assets   - - 22,996,874 22,996,874 
 Current assets   3,328,033 307,168 - 3,635,201 
 Current liabilities   - (478,208) - (478,208) 
 Pension scheme liability  - (3,597,000) - (3,597,000) 
    _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 
 Total net assets   3,328,033 (3,768,040) 22,996,874 22,556,867 
    ======== ======== ======== ======== 
 
  
 Fund balances at 31 August 2019 are represented by:     
     Restricted Restricted Total 
    Unrestricted general fixed asset funds 
    funds funds funds 2019 
       As restated 
    £ £ £ £ 
 
 Tangible fixed assets   - - 21,256,791 21,256,791 
 Current assets   2,917,070 2,389,327 - 5,306,397 
 Current liabilities   - (401,713) - (401,713) 
 Pension scheme liability  - (3,463,000) - (3,463,000) 
    _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 
 Total net assets   2,917,070 (1,475,386) 21,256,791 22,698,475 
    ======== ======== ======== ======== 
 
 
 
22 Reconciliation of net income to net cash inflow from 
 operating activities 2020 2019 
  £ £ 
 
 Net income for the year (438,834) (164,715) 
 Depreciation (note 13) 618,801 658,595 
 Capital grants received (20,577) (57,569) 
 Interest receivable (note 5) (7,113) (20,172) 
 (Increase) /decrease in debtors (167,572) 72,138 
 Increase in creditors 85,911 14,237 
 Pension scheme costs, less contributions payable 89,000 42,000 
 Pension finance cost 67,000 71,000 
  _________ _________ 
 
 Net cash provided by operating activities 226,616 615,514 
  ======== ======== 
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23 Cash flows from financing activities 
  2020 2019 
  £ £ 
 
 Interest received 7,113 20,172 
  ======== ======= 
 
 
24  Cash flows from investing activities  
  2020 2019 
  £ £ 
 
 Purchase of tangible fixed assets (2,358,884) (262,590) 
 Capital grants from DfE 20,577 57,569 
 Gain on disposal of fixed asset - 888 
  _________ _________ 
 
 Net cash used in by investing activities (2,338,307) (204,133) 
  ======== ======= 
 
 
25 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 
    At 31 August At 31 August 
    2020  2019 
   £  £  
 
 Cash in hand and at bank  3,350,676 5,455,254 
   ========  ======== 
 
26 Contingent liabilities 
 
 There are no contingent liabilities at 31 August 2020 (2019: £nil). 
 
 
27  Members' liability 
 

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the academy in the event of it 
being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount 
as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to be a 
member.  
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28  Pension and similar obligations 
 

The academy’s employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers’ Pension Scheme England 
and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-
teaching staff, which is managed by London Borough of Brent. Both are defined-benefit schemes. 
  
The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest 
actuarial valuation of the TPS was 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS was 31 March 2016. 
  
There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial year.  
 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme  
 
Introduction  
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS or scheme) is a statutory, unfunded, defined benefit occupational scheme, 
governed by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014.  These regulations apply to teachers in schools 
and other educational establishments, including academies, in England and Wales that are maintained by local 
authorities.  In addition, teachers in many independent and voluntary-aided schools and teachers and lecturers 
in some establishments of further and higher education may be eligible for membership.  Membership is 
automatic for teachers in academies.  All teachers have the option to opt out of the TPS following enrolment. 
 
The Teachers’ Pension Budgeting and Valuation Account 
Although members may be employed by various bodies, their retirement and other pension benefits are set out 
in regulations made under the Superannuation Act (1972) and Public Service Pensions Act (2013) and are paid 
by public funds provided by Parliament.  The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members and the employer make 
contributions, as a percentage of salary. – these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and 
other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 
 
Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in 
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published 
by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial 
scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many 
other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 
2016.  The valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2019. The key 
elements of the valuation report and subsequent consultation are:  

 Employer contribution rates at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration levy). 
 Total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for 

service to the effective date of £218,100 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions 
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196,100, giving a notional past 
service deficit of £22,000 million. 

 The SCAPE rate set by HM Treasury, is used to determine the notional investment return. The current 
SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of CPI, assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of prices and 
2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.2%. The assumed 
nominal rate of return including earnings growth is 4.45%. 

 
The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2023. 
 
The employers’ pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £493,429 (2019: £329,387). 
 
A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website. 
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28  Pension and similar obligations (continued) 

 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme (continued) 
 
Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The trust has 
accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The trust has set out 
above the information available on the scheme. 

 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered funds. The 
total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2020 was £592,000 (2019: £693,000), of which 
employer’s contributions totalled £508,000 (2019: £590,000) and employees’ contributions totalled £84,000 
(2019: £103,000). The agreed contribution rates for future years are 30% for employers and between 5.5% and 
12.5% for employees.  
 
Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of 
academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the Department 
for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013. 
 
Principal Actuarial Assumptions:  At 31 August At 31 August 
    2020 2019 
    
Rate of increase in salaries  2.5% 2.6% 
Rate of increase for pensions  2.2% 2.3% 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities  1.7% 1.9% 
 
The below table, as produced by Hymans Robertson LLP sets out the impact of a small change in the discount 
rates on the defined benefit obligations and projected service cost along with a plus/minus 1 year age rating 
adjustment to the mortality assumption. 
 
The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out below: 
 
Assumption: Movement Impact 
  2020 2019 
  £000 £000 
 
Salary Increase Rate 0.5% 72 76 
Real Discount Rate 0.5% 880 427 
Pension Increase Rate                                                                    12% 793 342 
 
 
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The 
assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 

   At 31 August At 31 August 
    2020 2019 
   (years) (years) 
 Retiring today 
 Males  22.1 21.4 
 Females  24.3 23.6 
  
 Retiring in 20 years 
 Males  23.0 22.3 
 Females  25.5 24.9 
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28 Pension and similar obligations (continued) 
 

Assumptions (continued) 
 

 The academy’s share of the assets and liabilities in the scheme and the expected rates of return were: 
 
    Fair value at Fair value at 
    31 August 31 August 
    2020 2019 
    £ £ 
 
 Equities   2,146,560 1,680,900 
 Bonds   357,760 301,700 
 Property   110,080 86,200 
 Cash   137,600 86,200 
    ________ ________ 
 
 Total market value of assets   2,752,000 2,155,000  
    ======= ======= 
 Actual return on scheme assets was £46,000 (2019: £48,000). 
 
 Amounts recognised in the statement of financial activities 
    2020 2019 
    £  £ 
 
 Current service cost (net of employee contributions)   513,000 494,000
 Benefit charges, gain/(loss) on curtailment and gain/(loss) on settlement  - - 
    ________ ________ 
 
 Total operating charge   513,000 494,000 
    ======= ======= 
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28 Pension and similar obligations (continued) 
 

Local Government Pension Scheme (continued) 
  
 Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

   2020  2019 
   £ £ 
 
At 1 September   5,618,000 3,919,000 
Current service cost   597,000 597,000 
Past service cost   - 35,000 
Interest cost   113,000 119,000 
Employee contributions   84,000 103,000 
Actuarial (gain)/loss   (21,000) 880,000 
Benefits paid   (42,000) (35,000) 
   ________ _________ 
 
At 31 August   6,349,000 5,618,000 

    ======= ======= 
Changes in the fair value of academy’s share of scheme assets: 

   2020 2019 
   £ £ 
 
 At 1 September  2,155,000 1,395,000 
 Return on plan assets (excluding net interest on the net defined  
 pension liability)  46,000 48,000 
 Actuarial gains   1,000 54,000 
 Employer contributions   508,000 590,000 
 Employee contributions   84,000 103,000 
 Benefits paid   (42,000) (35,000) 
   ________ ________ 
  
 At 31 August  2,752,000 2,155,000 
   ======= ======= 
 
29 Connected Parties 
 

During the accounting year, the Academy Trust was connected to the following entities: 
 

Acorn Manor Limited - This Company was established to advance the education of the pupils at Oakington 
Manor Primary School. Any surplus income generated by this company is donated fully to Oakington Manor 
Primary School for the benefit of the pupils of the school and the local community. The directors who control 
the company are Simrita Singh, the Executive Headteacher and the Accounting Officer of Excellence in 
Education Trust and Jo Jhally, Chair of Trustees, and Ivan Deshmukh, a Trustee. 

 
Oakington Manor School Parents Staff Association - This registered charity (1112184) was established to 
advance the education of the pupils at Oakington Manor Primary School. Any surplus income generated by this 
charity is utilised entirely for the benefit of the pupil of the school and the local community.  
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29 Connected Parties (continued) 
 
 Income 

For the year ending 31 August 2020, there was a loss before tax of £38,016 (2019: profit before tax of 
£237,211) generated by Acorn Manor Limited. Oakington Manor School Parents Staff Association generated 
income in the year to 31 March 2020 of £7,512 (2019: £6,963). 
 
Expenditure  
For the year ending 31 March 2020, total expenditure incurred by Oakington Manor School Parents Staff 
Association was £5,235 (2019: £8,395). Total assets at 31 August 2020 were £15,606 (2019: £13,329). 
 
There was a balance owing to the Trust from Acorn Manor of £223,344 as at 31 August 2020 (2019: £124,502). 
 

30 Capital commitments 
 

The Trust had capital commitments of £0.6m at 31 August 2020 (2019: £2.8m) in relation to the enhancement 
of the school’s infrastructure at Oakington Manor Primary School. 

 
31 Gift aid and prior year restatement 
 

The company receives some or all of the profits from Acorn Manor Limited, its subsidiary. The company has 
previously recognised gift aid receipts in the income statement in the year that the profits arose. Due to a change 
in accounting treatment for gift aid by regulatory bodies, the prior year figures have been restated. 
 
The prior year adjustment reflecting the change in accounting for gift aid receipts which has the effect of 
increasing the loss in the year ending 31 August 2019. 

 
 Changes to the company balance sheet     
       As restated 
     As previously Adjustment at 31 August 
     reported  2019 
     £ £ £ 
 
 Debtors    
 Current assets    460,787 (237,211) 223,576 
     ======== ======== ======== 
 Total funds 
 General fund    3,154,281 237,211 2,917,070 
     ======== ======== ======== 
 
  




